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Respondent:  Jacob Pot of sky

Interviewer: Elizabeth Bal anoff

Dat e:

R

August 4, 1970

M/ nanme is Jacob Potofsky. | am President of the Anal gamated
Cothing Wrkers of Anerica.

Now, why don't you tell me a little bit about your background?
How ol d were you when you cane to America, M. Potofsky?

| was 11, 13 and 15 all in one year. How cone, you ask?

Ri ght

Vell, | was born in Radonysl. That's quite a substantial city

in the state of Kiev. M brother, ny eldest brother Nathan, had
left Russia sometime in 1905. He was eligible for the draft and
he wasn't so keen on going into the Czar's army for a six-year
period. | recall as a kid hearing him discussing with ny

father the suggestion to go to America. So, he left, and

because he was sort of avoiding the draft he had to cross the
border unofficially, and he went into the United States. Chicago
was the destination because there were sone so called “lundsleite"
who were there already, so that he had an address. And he was
the first in our famly to emgrate to the United States. A
year |ater nmy father em grated. The year follow ng another

el der brother, Felix, left. And finally, in 1908, the early

part of June, ny nother, two sisters, nyself, and a younger

brother left. But we went on an official passport and in that
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passport | was listed as eleven years old. That was for the purpose
of having a half a ticket. | was a little hit on the tall side, so
when we came to the ticket office in Lebau ny nother said to | ower

ny head because she was afraid that | would be asked for a ful

ticket. At any rate, ny real age was thirteen, because according

to the Jewsh tradition, | was Bar Mtzvah. And that you can only

be when you are thirteen. Wen we arrived in Chicago in 1908 --

| believe it was either the end of June or the beginning of July --
and | went to work alnmost immediately at Dart, Schaffner and Marx.

A landsman offered me a job for $3.00 a week. And ny assignment

was to deliver bundles to him He was a fast operator, a corner

meker on pants. And he figured it would be a savings for himif
someone woul d pick up the bundles and deliver themto his bench, and
enter the | ot number and the number of pants in that particular
bundle. So | worked for a couple of nonths for this man who paid

me $3.00 a week which, of course, was turned over to the famly, to
ny mother. \hen Labor Day came | entered public: school, Medill Public
School. And on advice fromny father, | had given nmy age as 15.9,

so that when three nonths were up | could get working papers.

didn't have to have working papers during the sumer; none of

them were required because it was the vacation period. But in
Decenber, | got ny working papers, and | went back to Hart, Schaffner
and Marx, in Shop 14, this time getting $5.00 a week for doing a
simlar job of being on the floor as a floor boy. In a couple of nonths,

ny foreman, who was a very nice man by the nane of Homan, offered ne
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to become an operator. | thought it was a good idea, and he

put me on rags for two weeks. | worked on these rags for two weeks
to becone proficient in operating the machine. After two weeks,
| was put on piece work, making pockets, and | recall making the
first week on piecework, $7.21, | became a pocket maker. Later
on | became nore and nore proficient and picked up speed, and |
made as high as $12.00 or $13.00 a week wi thout overtime. |
continued in this way in the year 1908 and '09 and ' 10.

entered the Chicago Hebrew Institute and went to night schoo
there under a teacher by the name of Mss N ederman and joined
an educational club known as the Educational Cub where ny

el der brother was already president of the club. W used to
have weekly lectures on Anmerican history in the club, and sone
dances once in awhile, and so forth. It was an educationa

club. | didn't belong to anything else but the Chicago Hebrew
Institute on Taylor Street. And along came 1910, when sone
people working for Hart, Schaffner and Marx were tired of the

abuses that they were subjected to.

. \hat were sone of the abuses?
R Well, they used to be charged, for instance, for an enpty spool
which was lost, they used to be charged sixty cents. O, they

used to be charged for breaking a needle. They used to fix their
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prices, by the foremen. They were not participants, and the
foreman was a real tyrant, because he was speed-up man for the
conpany. He was the one who had the right to hire and fire and
had trenendous power. And they changed the rates whenever

they wanted. Everybody was working piecework, and it was a
veritable United Nations because most of the people were from
different parts of the world, | renenber working right next to
a girl who was a Boheman girl, on one side; on the other side
was a Polish girl; and opposite me was a girl working on a
button hole machine. She was a Jewish girl. And again on the
other side of me was an Italian. So we were a veritable United
Nations, \ell, one day, when they made a cut on some operation
fourteen girls working for Hart, Schaffner and Marx wal ked out.
There was no organization. They didn't know where to go, and
all | recall was that | heard about a neeting at the Hull House
It was in the nonth of Septenber. Everybody was tal king about
this wal kout that took place in one of the factories. | believe
it was Shop 5 on Halsted Street. | went to that neeting at the
Hull House. It was in a big hall and there nust have been 500-
600 people in there, | sat in the back and |istened to what
was going on. | looked around and there was one man who was
anot her pocket maker, who was from the same shop that | was
Shop 14. Al | knew is that the followng morning | came in;

| didn't go to ny machine as usual but talked to as many people

as we could. And | talked to this fellow Dunn, who was on the
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other side of the floor. There were about 300 people in our
shop, and we didn't start to work. Instead we started to walk
out . Inmediately the foreman came to ne and he said, "Jake

what's the matter with you? Wiy are you going? Did I mistreat
you?" | said, "No, M. Homan, you are very nice to me. But |
nust go. | can't do anything else. | nust leave.'" Well, they
shut the doors, They didn't et anybody go out. They tried to
stop the wal kout. But they just couldn't stop it because either
by the elevator or the steps we found our way. W wal ked out

in the open street, and then we inquired about where we are to
go. Ve found out there was a meeting hall on Halsted Street

near Harrison, so we aimed in that direction. There's where

the pantsmakers established their headquarters, and there is
where they net. Not far fromus, about a block or a block and

a half, was the Hod Carriers Hall where the Tailors were neeting,
And to give you an idea as to the kind of people, the Polish would
meet on the northwest side. The coatmakers was one l|arge group
and had a lot of Italians and Jews, and would nmeet in the Hod
Carriers Hall. The cutters -- they were the aristocrats --

met on Quincy Street. The cutters were the only people who
really had a union before. There was a Local 21 and a Loca

61 of the cutters, and they were the creamof the industry. \ell
what | remenber about that tine was that a strike was under way.
And 1 went once to a neeting at the Hod Carriers Hall which was

nearby just to listen in. | found that there were people standing



on chairs and there was a lot of pandemonium | made some
inquiries as to what was going on, and | found out that there

was some kind of settlement that was subnitted, which the strikers
didn't like. It called for those who were involved in arrests

or those who were involved in any kind of illegal activities not
to be hired back. And at that time picketing was illegal. The
police were against it; the enployers were regarded as holy. And
injunctions -- there must have been some injunctions. At any
rate, | found out later that M. Tom Richert, President of the
United Garment Wrkers, came in and made a settlement. This is
what was being discussed at the Hod Carriers Hall, the settlement
that was made by M. Richert, that all the strikers were to go
back to work, and that those who had any record of having been
arrested were not to be taken back, and that any future grievances
should be left to arbitration. The cutters had elected a comittee
to go and explain why the settlenent was unacceptable, and in

that comittee was Sidney Hillman. Sidney Hllman had an

accent: he was, by that time, about two or three years in the
country. He was a cutter. He had previously worked at Sears,
Roebuck as a shipping clerk, and then decided to go in and |earn
a trade, and he went to Hart, Schaffner and Marx. He worked

three nonths for nothing to learn the trade, to becone a cutter
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The cutters were in the higher brackets, and because they had

sone antecedents about the unions, they had scales that went up

to maybe $21.00, | don't recall exactly. I'mgoing to suggest to

you to talk to M. Frank Rosenblum who was a cutter and who was
working at Hart, Schaffner and Marx, and who was ol d enough to be
secretary of the strike conmttee* | was a kid and | wasn't on any
conmttee or anything, and all | know is just what | heard at that
time and what | recall. | recall, for instance, one day going to

275 LaSalle Street and there we woul d get strike benefits of $2.50 or
sonething like that. Wen we came to 275 LaSalle Street, the doors
were |ocked and there was nobody there. Then an announcement was made
that the slips would be honored later, but we should go back to our
headquarters. Vell, those slips were never honored. And we found

cut subsequently that the organization that was involved was the United
Garnent Workers who had the jurisdiction of clothing, and they canme
into take over. But they weren't really keen about organizing the
so-called inmigrants. They were nore interested in the aristocrats,
inthe cutters. At any rate, the strikers turned to John Fitzpatrick,
who was President of the Chicago Federation of Labor, and Ed Nockels,
Secretary of the Chicago Federation, in whom they found great friends.
They were really concerned with the plight of the inmgrant

clothing workers, because this strike
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that began at Dart, Schaffner and Marx was, of course, the biggest
of themall. Hart, Schaffner and Marx was headed by a man by the
nanme of Joseph Schaffner who was a very fine person. He was
sitting in his big office on Franklin Street, and he really

didn't like the idea that there were these abuses. He was the
one who really wanted to have an early settlenent; but, of

course, he didn't believe in such a thing as a closed shop or
anything of that sort. He was willing to leave it to arbitration
And of course he wouldn't hire anybody who had anything to do
with violence or picketing or anything of that sort, | nean who
were arrested at one time or another. So there was this provision
in the tenporary contract offer of a settlenent that he nade. But
he was fair and he was willing to leave it to an outside party

to decide, to rectify the conditions against which the strike

had taken place. \Well, when this offer was subnitted to the
strikers, it was rejected in one hall after another, because
basically what they didn't like was this discrimnation against
the active people. There were so many of them and that would

nean that they would becone sort of |eaderless. In one place
after another it was being rejected. Wll, there was pandenoni um
when the representatives of the United Garment \Wrkers cane to
present the agreement in the Hod Carriers Hall. The Hod Carriers
Hal | was presided over by a fellow by the nane of Anzuino D. Marinpietr
who | ater becane a vice-president of the Amal gamated O ot hing
Wrkers. And he announced "There is a committee fromthe cutters

from downtown, and | want to present to you Sidney Hllman, one
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of the nenbers of the comittee.” Sidney Hllman started

to speak in his broken English, but before long his voice had such
an effect that those people who were standing on the chairs slipped
down and sat down. He had an effect, "Let us analyze what is the
situation; let's be calm let's rationalize." And he then started
to analyze the proposition and concluded that obviously we nust
reject it, and we do it in a nice way. The nice way was that the
man who nmade the proposition had to run out fromthe back way in
order to save hinself fromthe ire of all the people about.

At any rate, that first offer of an agreement was rejected

| recall that anong the people who were active in that strike was
Sidney H |l mn, who becane a recogni zed | eader after this neeting
at the Hod Carriers Hall as if he belonged to the Hod Carriers
Hal|. Another one who | nade reference to was Anzuino D. Marinpietri
who was a very good tailor. He worked in Hart, Schaffner and Marx
al so on Halsted Street, in one of the quality shops. And, of
course, there was Bessie Abranovitz, who later on married Sidney H Il man,
but that was five years later. At that tine Bessie was a |eader
She was a leader in the strike. 'She was a menber of the strike
commttee, and she became recognized by the Wnen's Trade Union
League, under the |eadership of Ms. Raynond Robins, which had

a group of women who were really interested in the strike and

their cause. And they did a lot of things. As | recall, there

was a wonman by the name of Mss Anderson and Mss Johnson and a
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M ss Steghagen. These were all people who were involved in the
Wmen's Trade Union League in one capacity or another. One was

the editor of a journal. One was collecting funds and relief

for the strikers. They were very active. The Wonen's Trade

Union League and the Chicago Federation of Labor were the

nmost active people. On the side of the strikers, the only names

that | can recall and give you were Sidney Hllman, Frank Rosenbl um
who was secretary of the strike conmttee, whom |'ve already mentioned,

Sam Levin, who was sort of a go-between for the Chicago Federation

of Labor and the Wnmen's Trade Union League. | nentioned Bessie
Abranovitz, | was too young and too nuch of a kid to be involved
init. | reconmend to you to talk to Frank Rosenbl um who |ives

in Chicago. He's our general secretary-treasurer, and get his
recol | ections. The strike was settled later on after a |apse

of several weeks, naybe even a couple of months. | recall that

| was supposed to return to work according to the agreement.

There was a limt to what time we could return to work, and that
limt was sonetime in January. | know that my union book, which
was fromthe United Garnent Workers of America, and was in the

Yi ddi sh Language, is dated January 12, 1911. O course, the book
was issued after we returned to work and each one was assigned

to the different locals. | was assigned to the Pantsnmakers Local 144.
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| returned to work and becane the secretary of the shop. | n
other words, ny job was to collect dues from the people, collect

the books and bring in. Later | becanme a local officer. The
reason | became a l|local officer was because by that the ny
father owned his house on 1342 Washburn Ave. so that they
could trust ne with the treasury, which was all of 7 dollars
and 25 cents, or sonmething like that. Anyway, | becane
treasurer of the Local. 1'd been active in the shop. Once,
one of our operators was kind of sick, He's supposed to have
had TB. They called him Siegel the Turk. This was about
soneti me between 1911 or 1912. | had known sone peopl e who
could play the piano, so we arranged for a concert in
Wor ki ngnmen's hall on Twelfth Street, and we sold tickets for
15 cents a ticket. Then we sold Coca Colas in the hall for
those that would buy it for five cents. W sold tickets
around the shop at noon, and so forth, and we raised $50.00 and
presented it to this fellow, Siegel the Turk. It was a
contribution. Vell, | was sort of active because | got the
program together and helped to arrange this affair, so | becane
known in the shop. One day the shop chairman decided to resign
and there was a shop neeting held. Not everybody cane to the

meeting, but | was selected as the shop chairman. | was an operator
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by that time. (ne day in July, 1913, | was coning to a neeting

O the Executive Board of which | was a nenber, and | heard

t hat Frank Rosenblum who was the business agent for ny

local, had resigned, In ny local there were a Iot of people
who liked to make speeches but didn't pay their dues. | was not

one of them But we had sone leaders, a fellow by the nane of
Taback. He was a great orator and nmde hot speeches, but they
were not in good standing. | was going at that tine to a
commerci al night school to take up bookkeeping and pennanship,
sone college on Mchigan Boulevard. This was sort of a night
school, to learn penmanship and bookkeeping, double entry and so

forth. So people knew that | was going to night school, and
they thought that | could read and wite, and as a tenporary
experinent, | would take the job as a sort of deputy to replace
Frank Rosenblum who was the business agent. 1 was sort of

sponsored by A D. Marinpietri, who was then president of the
Coat makers Local. M tenporary assignnent was to nove Local
144 that had an office on Blue Island Avenue and Twelfth Street,
to the Hod Carriers hall, where the Coatnakers had a |ocal office,
local 39, and to have the two l|ocals nerge under the |eadership
of Marinprietri who was at that tine president of |ocal 39 and
the president of Hart, Schaffner and Marx Joint Board. The

Dart, Schaffner and Marx Joint Board consisted of all the |anguage
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locals -- the Bohemans, the Lithuanians, the Polish, the Italians
all of them had separate locals. | cane to this neeting of the
Executive Board, and | was offered the job. | said, "I have

to go and consult ny father." | couldn't make the decision.

| went home and asked ny father, and he said | was old enough

to make myown decision. So | went back, | had at that time a

dream about beconing a hobo and seeing the country, and just
that sane day | had taken sort of a |eave of absence from

Factory J. By that time the pants shops had consolidated into

a big factory, and it was known as Factory J. It was a big
pants factory. It had several floors. M. Larson was the
manager, and | was the shop chairman of ny floor. | asked for
a |eave of absence, which | still have, which he granted nme that

| could comeback at any time. And | was in this position -- 1
wanted to really take a vacation. | had already saved up $150.00
with ny father as the banker, and | thought | was going to go

and see the country. And, lo and behold, here | was offered this
job. | didn't feel that | was big enough to take the place of
Frank Rosenbl um because Frank was highly respected. He was from
the cutters local, and he was a business agent, but he woul dn't
take the criticism Qur boys in the pantsmakers |ocal gave him
a lot of trouble. He decided that he'd rather go back to the

cutting table and he would have less trouble then. He recomended
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me because | could read and wite. There was really no justification
for a separate local for the pantsmakers on Blue Island Avenue

and Twelfth Street when you could nmerge with the coatmakers.

. Tell me about the l|anguage divisions

R. W were what you call a trade section. | mean we were making
pants; all the pantsmakers were in one local. The coatmakers
was a larger group, so they divided by nationality. The Polish
were on the north side and they had a Polish local. The Bohenians
were in the Sokol; they had a Sokol organization somewhere on the
south side. They had a separate organization, and they were al
hepped up about their organization. Later on we had nine different
publications in nine different |anguages in order to really
communi cate with the different l|anguage groups. The Anericanization
process has gone forth, and it took a nunber of years, and now
there is only one |anguage paper with the exception that we have
a Spani sh section for the newy arrived Puerto Ricans, and so
forth, And in Mntreal we have a French paper. O herwi se we have
only one official publication; but at that time, we had nine

different papers.

|.  You mean articles were different as well as the language? | mean,

they each put out their own conpletely separate paper?
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R. No, no, no. The organization published the paper. But |'m kind
of junping ahead, because | have skipped quite a while. But |
dealt nostly with the early period of 1910 to 1913. Wll, to
cone back to that period, | was elected for a tenporary makeshift
to conbine the two locals for the two months of July and August,
and | acconplished ny mssion. And | went away for vacation
before exercising ny |eave of absence and com ng back to work.
| went to the sand dunes for a vacation in Indiana. And while
| was there | received a letter fromA D. Mrinpietri again,
that at the joint nmeeting of the Executive Board of Local 39,
which is the coatnakers, and Local 144 pantsmakers, | was unanimously
chosen to be the office manager, and | should cone back imrediately,
whereupon | canme back imediately and negotiated ny permanent
assignnment as the office manager of Local 39 and 144. Then |
was elected secretary of the Chicago Joint Board. That was
purely to keep the mnutes, and so forth. Then | began exercising
ny job as office manager. W had to collect the dues and enter
the anount in day books, then enter it in the |edger, and then
distribute the books to the different shops, receive the noney
in the evening when the shop chairman would come in Wth the

uni on books because there was no check-off at that tine. And we
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had to do all the work. That was part of ny assignment. My
salary was fixed at $15.00 a week. At this time | didn't

protest. \When they offered me first $15.00 for the temporary job
| thought it was too high, and | said $12.00 was enough. But

when the permanent job cane, it was a different story.

accepted the $15.00, and | worked from morning "til night

because ny job in the morning was to give jobs. Hart, Schaffner
and Marx would send in requisitions, and | had to take care of

the requisitions. In other words, instead of putting up a

sign, "Wanted: pocketnaker" or a seamer or a presser, they

woul d send the requisitions to the union, The union kept a |ist
of all those who were unenployed, and it was nmy job to send them
cards to cone in, or call themup to cone in. So the first thing
| did when | canme in at seven o'clock was to take care of the
requi sitions. Then do the bookkeeping, the entry of all the books
that you've taken in the night before and you enter it in a day
book. And then you'd have to post that into a |edger. Pretty
soon | had a girl to help nme in this job of bookkeeping, and later
on | had another girl as we went along. This goes up to 1913 when
| becanme the official secretary. From 1913 up until 1916, | was
the secretary and office nmanager of the Coatnakers and secretary

of the Joint Board. And | recall that we had a 1915 stri ke, which
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was lost. W had it for several nonths. | remenber how Sidney
Hllman had drawn up the demands with the help of WO Thonpson
our attorney. Qur biggest demand was a 48-hour week; we were for
arbitration, willing to |eave our demands to an inpartial party.
The enployer said there was nothing to arbitrate. And no matter
whet her the appeal came fromthe city council or from any of the
reputable citizens of Chicago, they paid no attention. They

got an injunction. They had nothing to arbitrate, and this is
it. Whatever they want to do, they' |l do, And there's nobody

going to advise themor tell them what to do.

. How long was your work week then?

R. Vell, originally, when it came down to the settlenment of the
Hart, Schaffner and Marx strike, we worked 54 hours. Now, when
the strike was settled, the conpany agreed to a board of
arbitration. The man who was selected to be an arbitrator was
sone professor of a university who happened to be sick. The
union representative was Clarence Darrow, and the conpany repre-
sentative was a |awer for the conpany, a fellow by the name of
Carl Meyer, froma reputable law firm They got together with
Sidney Hillnman, who was el ected business agent at $10.00 a week
right after we went back to work. W didn't let himgo back to
work. His salary was fixed also, but he was making $12.00 a week

when his salary was fixed. It didn't matter to him But sonebody

had to foll ow through, so he was the one who was el ected to
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become sort of a business agent. Later on when each |ocal had
elected their own representatives, he becane the chief clerk

and they becane the business agents for their respective loca
unions -- the Lithuanians, the Poles, the Italians, and so forth
Vell, when there was a conference between C arence Darrow and

Carl Meyer, there was the problem of the sick man fromthe
university -- | forget his name. They said, "Wll, why don't we
proceed by ourselves and see whether we can come to an agreement?"
And thereupon they asked Sam Levin and Sidney HIlmn and Bessie
to cone forward and state what their grievances were. They sort
of held court. They canme out by April, 1911, with a decision of
sonething like fourteen points which dealt with nmost of the

probl ens which there were grievances and conplaints originally.
Vell, in that decision which was really a sort of a fundanenta
agreenent, the first agreement between Hart, Schaffner and Marx
and its enployees, the hours were reduced fromb54 to 52. A

m ni num wage was set up, It was $8.00 for the nen and $5.00

for the wonen. There were a nunber of other provisions, and
that was really the first agreenment in April. They found out

that certain grievances took place, and those grievances were

del ayed; they weren't adjusted. There was all sorts of conplaints
and they cane to the conclusion that they nust have some kind of a
court, some kind of a trade board to settle grievances on a daily

basis. There was a man by the name of Janes Millenbach who was
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active in the 1910 strike as a social worker, and they elected him

He was chosen as the first chairman of the Trade Board, He was given
an office in the conpany's building at Franklin and Mnroe, and he
was holding sort of court for the enployees to bring their grievances
for adjustment. Sidney Hllnmn worked out that whole scheme with the
hel p of the Labor Departnent at that tine, It was fully described

in some Bulletin No. 198 of the Departnent of Labor. | don't recal
the name of the man at that tine who was very helpful in working out
this nethod of handling grievances, of adjusting rates, and so forth

| believe it was Wnslow, so that there was a permanent board to whom
you could cone. And the Trade Board also had five representatives
fromone side and five representatives fromthe other side, They
found |ater that that was too cumbersone, so they reduced the nunber
But the union was always represented either by Sidney H |l mn or
Marinpietri, who was at that time President of the Joint Board and
representative of the Coatnmkers. And each of the locals had their
representatives. They made it nore feasible and practical. But even
that had sone msgivings, because there was sometimes when Millenbach
woul d make a decision and the conpany didn't like it. And they felt
that there ought to be sort of an appeal, even fromthe fairness of
this man. He was a sort of Lincolnesque character, and he was socially

mnded. He was one of the Jane Addams' types.

Had he worked at Hull House?

R. No. He was a social worker, and he helped the strikers in the

conmm ssary stores which were established in the strike to help
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themget by. A lot of the women who were helpful fromthe Wmen's

Trade Union League, sone of the rich ladies fromthe South Side

and other places, they raised noney. Doctors gave services free during
the strike, And the commissary stores were open for those in need so
they didn't have to starve. And they would come, and James Mil|enbach
was one of the nmen who directed these activities so that the people

woul dn't starve. The food was distributed to each famly who was
registered and was on the picket line. They punched his card, and

he would be entitled once a week to get a package of food stuff,

So that was during the strike. So Millenbach was known. And

Ml | enbach was a fair man. Ml lenbach was the first chairman of

the Trade Board, and he built up the grievance machinery. There

were a lot of cases. He would hold hearings. Both sides stated

their case, and then he would make a decision. \ell, the company didn't
like some of the decisions, and they wanted to have a higher court

to appeal to. By that time the conpany had a vice-president assigned to

| abor management. | nean, they took a man from Northwestern University,
Earl Dean Howard, and they made hima vice-president. He was in charge
of the labor relations departnment and it was a genuine effort to make this
agreenent work. At that time not everybody was in the union. Al ong came
the period of 1912, when the conpany was dissatisfied with the Trade Board,

and they wanted to have an appeals board. They |ooked around and they found
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in Streator, Illinois, a man by the name of John E. WIlians, who

was chosen as the chairman of the board of arbitration. In other
words an appeal could be taken either by the union or by the conpany
to the board of arbitration to M. WIllianms, from M. Millenbach's
decisions. This M. WIllians was a great man. He really was a noble
man. He was the head of the Cherry Mne Disaster M ssion.

Oiginally he was a niner. He was a philosopher, a nusic |over,

and witer, There was a big disaster in the mnes, and he was el ected
as the head of the nmission to investigate. He was a sort

of a philosopher type, and | suppose he was known to both sides.

They |ooked him over, and they accepted him He was a man with a
nice little greying beard and a very humane sort of a gentleman.

He wote a colum in the Streator, Illinois daily paper under the
name of "Fancies of Fabius" and he would wite his experiences with
Sidney Hllman and Sam Levin and Bessie Abranovitz. To himit was

a revelation what these people achieved. Here he nmet Russian
immgrants, and he found themto be fascinating. And | believe that
Sidney Hllman has |earned nore English from John E. WIlianms and
Clarence Darrow and W O Thonpson than he |earned fromany school.
Wlliams would wite in his paper that today he net Sidney H Il nan,
and he woul d give sone of the arguments that Sidney Hllman used in
the case that was before him and he would describe a little bit about
Sidney Hllmn that you would get a portrait. Then he woul d describe
Sam Levin, what kind of a type he was. And then he woul d describe

Bessie Abramowitz. He was a fascinating man. | recall
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one year, | believe it was 1912, receiving a little panphlet from
himfor Christmas. And the panphlet was entitled "The Passing

of Bob." He had a collie dog, and he had a relationship with this
collie like one human being to another. They used to go for

wal ks, and the collie dog would run ahead. And one day the collie
dog passed away. It was in nenory of this relationship that he
wote this booklet. | recall that | was so entranced by that. He
had a picture of himself and the dog at the end, that was pasted in.
And the story was “The Passing of Bob, " and is still inscribed in

ny nenory. It gave me a feeling about the man. He continued to

be the inpartial chairman of the board of arbitration. And he was
the father of the preferential shop, because when the first agreement
expired and the vote was taken and Sidney Hllman had the vote in
his pocket, they decided to strike, Wat did they want? They
wanted a closed shop that everybody should belong to the union.

They had a hearing before the inpartial chairman, and he sat there.
On one side was M. Strauss, the vice-president of Hart, Schaffner
and Marx and on the other side was Sidney Hllman. And he turned to
M. Strauss. He says, "Wuld you want to see the union annihil ated??
He said, "No, no, no. |'mfor the union." And then he turned to
Sidney HIllman. He says, "Wuld you want to see the conpany hurt

or annihilated?" He said, “No, no. | want the conpany to thrive."
He says, "In that case, why couldn't we, if you want the union to live
and you want the conpany to thrive, why couldn't we work out sone
nmodus operandi that should make the union strong and make the

conpany satisfied? Now the union wants the closed shop. The conpany's
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totally opposed to it. Let's see whether we couldn't work

out something that would be beneficial to the union, because if the
union was to have some influence, it nust have some power, nust

have some strength." And he continued arguing and devel oped the

idea of preference. So in the 1912 agreenent, instead of having

a closed shop agreement, we had a whole conplicated system  Section

A was all union. Section B was union and non-union. Section C

was all non-union. But it took time, of course. Little by little,

we had enough conplaints in the Section B to make them all wunion.

And then the union has penetrated into Section. C Little by little

we picked up grievances and conplaints and did sonething for the people
in that section, to appreciate that the union is there to help them

So they signed up for the union, because everything was on a

voluntary basis. There was no conpul sion. There was no coercion of
any kind, with the exception that you used your natural propaganda

They wanted to be shown what the union means, and the immgrants were
no fools. Little by little we got a hundred percent union at Hart,
Schaffner and Marx. And incidentally, there's been no strike since
1910 in hart, Schaffner and Marx. And they are here today. They work on
a forty-hour week, enploying today 4,000 people as against 8,000

people that they enployed in 1910, And these 4,000 people incidentally
are producing as many units working forty hours as against the 8,000

peopl e who were working fifty-four hours and producing the sane nunber
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of units. So they did pretty well. The conpany's still the

| eading clothing conpany in America, as one of the great conglonerates,
now having two hundred stores and enploying more than 10,000 workers.
It is interesting that this group of immgrants who came forth in the
1910 strike have built American institutions that will live for
generations to come. This union was independent for twenty years,
from 1914 to 1934, And during those years, it maintained its

interest in the |abor movement, so much so that in the 1919 strike

of the Steelworkers which was headed by John Fitzpatrick, our union
contributed $100,000 to the strikers; and all we received was a
receipt fromthe Anerican Federation of Labor, not even a note of
thanks. But we didn't mnd that; we did it because we were interested
in the labor nmovement. In 1933, when there were runblings about
politics, and F.D.R. cane in at the height of the depression, we

were not in such good shape at that tine. This was the height of

the depression. And this is only the first tinme I saw Sidney H |l man
a little bit downhearted, because up to that point, the Anmal gamated

C othing Wrkers had become a very potent factor, We had built up
our wage structure to $1.25 an hour when steelworkers were working
for 76 cents an hour. W had already established the 44-hour week;
and so we nade our place in the industry. But in the Twenties we
conceived the idea, and that was Sidney Hllman's thinking, that what
was on a worker's mnd was to have security, particularly security
agai nst unenploynent. And we didn't have any unenpl oyment insurance
then. | think there was one state that was experinenting, and that

was Wsconsin. In the early Twenties we had sent over Dr. Leo Wl man,
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head of our research departnment to England to study the problem

of unenployment, and he came back with a report. W started in the
clothing industry, first in Chicago and then in New York and then

In Rochester, an unenploynment insurance fund, where the enployers
chipped in. Then in a slack period it was divided for the people

who needed it. Qut of that, later on, when unenpl oyment insurance was

i ntroduced, came sort of a welfare program which is now a bhig thing
in the Amal gamated. W have nedical centers in various places; and we
have educational department programs and schol arship funds, and

day care centers. It's a whole conplex and a whol e philosophy of

what needs to be done in order to answer the question that Sidney

H |l man asked, "Wat's on the worker's mnd? \Wat bothers hin®"

And what bothers him essentially is security, security against

sickness and ol d age, security against unenploynent, opportunity to
give the answer to the problem In the Twenties, after we already
established our unenployment insurance fund, we conceived the idea --
and the father of that scheme was a fellow by the name of Warren Stone
fromthe Railroad Brotherhoods -- to go into |abor banks. At one tinme
there was a rash of |abor banks to the tune of thirty-five of them

| believe by 1925 there was about that nunber of |abor banks. W are
the only bank that survived, with the exception of one other little

bank, a small bank out in the mddl e west.
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l. \My do you think yours survived?

R Management. That's the answer. Anyway, in the Twenties, too
we established sone credit unions. The idea was to help people borrow
money so that they could, if they needed coal or they needed something
else -- furniture -- they could borrow. They had their organization
where they could save and they could borrow at a reasonable rate
And the credit unions were official at that time. | think the
father of the credit union movenent was a fellow by the name of
Filene in Boston. At any rate, we started one of those credit
unions. | was a member in one, the Amal gamated Credit Union. And
we had a fellow by the name of Kazan who was running it. And he
conceived the idea that maybe we ought to go into housing, too,
because first he was buying coal to supply nenbers so that they
could buy coal wholesale. And so Sidney Hllman told him "Go
ahead and have a | ook. Look around.” And he |ooked around. And
then he came with a proposition to buy a certain piece of land in
the Bronx which faced the reservoir on one side, Msholu Parkway
on the other and Van Cortlandt Park on the third, He said we coul d
form a separate corporation, the A CW Corporation and we got a
| ot of people who were interested in homes and so forth. At that
time Sidney Hllmn |ooked around the field and he said, "No, it's

too early. e have to have a |aw that we can get nortgage noney
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at a reasonable rate., We ought to get some other inducements

from the government:because there was at that time a shortage of
housing as there is today. To make a long story short, out of that
concept came an Amalgamated housing project. In 1926 that was
completed when a law was passed in New York State under Governor
Smith to make it possible to get 5% monay from some of the banks

or insurance companies and also get tax exemption from the city, and
so forth. With that kind of cooperation, we started the first
Amalgamated housing project where the average rent was $11.00 per
room. We had some people living there later who only paid $9.00

per room because it averaged from, say, $9.00 up to $15.00. And
there was in the lower bracket those who wanted the lower floor,

and those who wanted the higher floor paid more and the lower floor
paid less. So this is another pioneering effort. We are the only
union in the country today that still has a bank that is very successful,
has 35,000 depositors, We made last year a little over $3,000,000.00
and all of that == the stock of the bank =~ is owned by the Amalgamated.
It's an Amalgamated institution with 85,000 customers, and it is
growing and very successful. Why? Because we have good management,
because we are conservative, because we are liquid, because we don't
speculate. We are the most liquid bank in the city of New York and
for that matter in the country, because we are 827% liquid. The only

thing which is what you call long-term is the small loans,
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which is the loans made to individuals on their own credit. And
sone nake |oans on their cars. W lend up to $5,000.00, payable
within a period of three years, on nonthly installments. And our
charge for that service is 2% less than any other bank in New York
Then cones anot her service which we have. A lot of teachers and
other individuals, who are in the tens of thousands, opened accounts
with us to keep their checks and to pay by check. Well, we charge
6 cents a check as against other banks who charge 10 cents a

check, besides a charge for admnistration, and we don't charge any-

thing for admnistration

Wiy do you think more unions don't do this kind of thing?

R The AF. of L. - CI1.0 has another plan. They are interested in
nortgage |oans; and they have a special fund which is run by the
AF of L. - C1.0 where they are investing their interest in
nortgage funds. Now, here we conme to another point where we have
established an Anmerican institution that pronotes the inprovenment

of farmlife. W buy fromthe Departnent of Agriculture certain of
their securities which are guaranteed by Uncle Sam absolutely
guaranteed. W are helping what you would call a legitimte, worthy
cause, and at the same tine we are getting a decent return. At

the same time we are guaranteed by Uncle Sam that we don't take any
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risk, like in the stock market that goes up and down. There's no

risk whatsoever. And in this, we invest our welfare funds. We've

got a quarter of a billion dollars in the welfare funds of the

different welfare funds that the Amal gamated controls for the

clothing industry, for the cotton garment industry, for the

laundry industry, for the cleaners and dyers; we have separate funds.

Al of these funds are all invested in governnment securities. W

don't speculate. Now, we come to housing. And in housing | happen

to be now. This nman, Kazan, retired after fifty odd years in this

thing. We've devel oped sone assistance, and |'ve taken over the

presi dency of the United Housing Foundation. This is a foundation

of all the unions in New York concerned with housing, some 26 unions,

26 different projects that have been put into effect where 58,000

famlies live, which nmeans about 200,000 people. W are now

constructing Co-op City which takes care of 15,500 apartments, which

nmeans we are building a city of 60,000 people. And this is all cooperative.
And the savings to the co-operator is not only that he gets reasonable
rent, but he buys his food in our co-operative food stores. He buys

his furniture in a co-operative furniture store, He buys his cosnetics
and drugs in a cooperative drug store. And anything else we don't want to

run, we rent out to the public. He opens his account in the Anmal gamated
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Bank which is union owned. So these are the services that have been
devel oped; and these things will survive providing they are properly,
honest|y managed. So far they are andwe are going up and up and up.
W are doing about $14,000,000.00 a year in retail business in these
co-op stores. W set up a conpany now in the last couple of years

for the insurance of those people who live there who have cars. And
it's very difficult for certain people -- Negroes cannot get insurance
at all. The people who live in the co-operatives get insurance and
save $200.00 a year. W have our own insurance conpany for that.

It's limted for these people. | mean, we hope to expand it later

on as we go along, but we've been eminently successful. W were going
to farmthis out to somebody el se. And then the question was, "Wy
should we do it?" It cost us $650,000.00 to get started, to

organi ze this conpany. And we turned to the man who's handling the
housing. He's Kazan's assistant. | made him an executive vice-president
because | wouldn't take the time to run all of these activities, and
I"mjust sort of honorary president of the foundation. But the
executive vice-president does all the work, | said to him "Vell

why can't we work something out."” | said, "How nuch nmoney can you

get together in the co-ops?" "Oh," he says, "about a quarter of a
mllion. How much will it need? $650,000?" Well, then, | said,
"the bank will Iend you that noney and you pay it back." "Ch," he
says, "l think we can pay it back in three years." He paid it back

before three years were up, because we were doing a very good business,
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liability insurance and the insurance for all the projects for

peopl e who wanted cars. And the people didn't cheat us. | nean, they
cheat themselves if they cheat. Some cars were stolen, yes. Well,

we paid. W advise people to put locks on their cars so that they
cannot steal themtoo easily. But, we made it a success. So the
upshot of the whole thing is that these groups of inmgrants have

built institutions that will |ive beyond our lives. And we are

very proud of that, because | believe that this is a contribution to
Arerica. W are returning to Anerica what they have done for us. They
have given us a hone for freedom denocracy, to operate in an

entirely different atnmosphere, | believe we are repaying themin

kind by building these institutions which are novel. And sone

people will criticize because there isn't a profit notive. But

that's the greatness of it. That's the beauty of it. And we have

no problemto get noney fromthe state or noney fromthe city, They
beg us to go ahead and take it. W don't want to take on as nuch

as they would like us to take on because we have our limtations and
don't want to overreach ourselves, But for this Co-op City,

which is a $360,000,000. project, we got the noney fromthe state
State finance agency issues bonds, tax-exenpt bonds, which is a good

I nvestment by the financier who wants to have an investment in
government bonds, tax exenpt. W pay high prices, but he nmakes doubl e,

so it's a good investment for him It's a good thing for us. W get
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all the money we need. The Board of Education was slow on the take
on building our school system And we have a whole conplex. W
have to have public schools, and then we have to have high schools
And then we have to have a lot of things. W are willing to give
the land, but we want the Board of Education to do it. And the red
tape was too long, so it was a problem So we decided that we'll
do our own construction. And we can save a year by doing it. Then
the question is this, you need $60,000,000.00 for building this
conplex. W have no problem W went to the state finance agency.
They said, 'W have all the confidence in the world in you. You

go ahead, build it. And we'll advance the nmoney. And when the
Board of Education is ready, they'll pay us back, and we'll turn

it over to them So today these immigrants have built these housing
ventures -- the Anmal gamated Bank, the insurance conpanies for the
industry, \hat we save, we inprove in our benefits. \Wat we save,
we inprove for the enployers, too, because they have less to pay.
It's their contribution we manage; we manage jointly. So we have the
housing, the insurance, the educational activities, which is now
beginning to be part of our welfare program  In Chicago, as you
know, we give now $700.00 for a full year. Any menber of the

Amal gamat ed who's been a nember for thirteen years can get it for
his son or daughter to get in any of the certified colleges, for

four full years -- $700.00 a year. That's in the Amalganated.
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Utimtely, we hope to establish an educational system whereby it's
going to be part of our welfare program where every nenber wll

be eligible to get his son or daughter to college, give themthe
col l ege education they want to, and get schol arships enough to take
care of it. Now, the day care centers we have in Chicago and in the
Baltinore area. \Well, anyway, to conclude, we are very happy to
make this contribution to the land of freedom where opportunity
still exists. W found it existing in 1910. And | think it is

still there, with all the criticisns by the young generation, and
the lack of conmmunication between the old and the young. | hope
there will be understanding. And | hope there will be appreciation
for the things that we have devel oped, because they are for the good
of the people, not only in our union, the |abor movement, but the people

all over the land. So this concludes ny story. Thank you

. Thank you very much
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